ON APPEAL TO THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA APPEAL NUMBER 85-300

DIANE S. HASSEN and THOMAS S. HASSEN,

Petitioners/Appellants,

vs.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Respondent/Appellee.

FILED SID J. WHITE MAY 25 1995 2 COURT CLERK Clerk Chief Deputy BY.

Appealed from the Second District Court of Appeal

Case No. 94 01241

### **APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF**

Diana L. Myers, Esquire Mark H. Perenich, Esquire PERENICH, CARROLL, PERENICH, AVRIL & CAULFIELD, P.A. 1875 North Belcher Road Suite 201 Clearwater, Florida 34625 (813) 796-8282 Florida Bar No.: 972665 Attorneys for Appellants

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Plaintiffs, DIANE S. HASSEN and THOMAS S. HASSEN, her spouse, shall be collectively referred to as Appellants or Hassens and the Defendant, STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY shall be referred to as Appellee or State Farm.

References to the record on appeal will be abbreviated "R" followed by the applicable page number. References to documents in the Appendix shall be abbreviated "A" followed by the applicable page number.

Unless otherwise noted, § 627.727 Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992), which is referred to throughout the brief is referring to this Statute as amended effective October 1, 1992 and contained in Chapter 92-318, Laws of Florida and Florida Statutes Supplement 1992. All references to "Section 6(a)" are referring to § 627.727(6)(a) Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992) and references to "Section 6(b)" are referring to § 627.727(6)(b) Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992) as amended effective October 1, 1992, unless otherwise noted.

The terms "uninsured motorist coverage" and "underinsured motorist coverage" are used interchangeably and will be abbreviated throughout with the term "UM".

V

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal from a decision of the Second District Court of Appeal reversing a summary judgment order entered in favor of Appellants/Hassens by the Sixth Judicial Circuit Court. The issues presented to the trial court and the appellate court were the retroactive application of a 1992 amendment to § 627.727(6) Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992) and the Hassens' compliance with the statutory mandated procedures set forth in Section 6(a) prior to waiver of State Farm's subrogation rights.(R 230-231)(A 1-2) The Second District Court reversed on the issue of retroactive application and went beyond the trial court issues to certify the following question:

Is Section 627.727(6), Florida Statutes (Supp 1992), Constitutional? If so, is it a substantive statute, as opposed to a remedial statute, such that its terms cannot be applied constitutionally to a pending claim brought under the uninsured motorist provisions of an automobile insurance policy issued prior to it's effective date?

This claim involves a policy of automobile insurance issued by State Farm Insurance Company to the Hassens. The policy included uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage in the amount of \$100,000/\$300,000.(R 20-21) The policy renewed on March 26, 1990 with a policy expiration date of September 26, 1990. (R 20-21)

Appellant, Diane Hassen, was injured in an automobile accident on June 15, 1990, as a result of the negligence of an

underinsured motorist. (R 1-5) Mrs. Hassen's primary injury was to her head and right eye. (R 101) Mrs. Hassen is legally blind in her right eye as a result of the accident.(R 101) The underinsured motorist was insured with UniSun Insurance Company with liability limits of \$100,000.00.(R 30) Unisun evaluated the claim and damages and determined the value of the claim exceeded their policy limits.(R 30) Appellants reached a settlement with Unisun for its policy limits contingent upon receiving the authorization of the uninsured motorist carrier, release the State Farm, to accept the settlement and underinsured tortfeasor.(R 30) By certified letter dated October 9, 1992, (R-28), Appellants' counsel provided written notice of the proposed settlement with the underinsured motorist and requested authorization in compliance with § 627.727(6) Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992). State Farm failed to respond within the thirty day time frame as required by § 627.727(6)(a) Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992) allowing the Hassens to proceed to execute a full release in favor of the underinsured motorist.

State Farm denied Appellants' claim for uninsured motorist benefits and Appellants filed an action for declaratory judgment, requesting a declaration of their compliance with all conditions precedent to a claim for UM coverage.(R 1-5) The Appellants filed a motion for summary judgment and amended motion for summary judgment which was granted as to Count I,

Action for Declaratory Judgment. (R 221-223, 230-231, 239) (A 1-2) The Circuit Court by granting summary judgment in favor of the Hassens essentially confirmed the Hassens compliance with all conditions precedent to settlement with the underinsured motorist as required by § 627.727(6) Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992) entitling them to pursue their underinsured motorist benefits without prejudice. (R-230-231) (A 1-3)

This matter was appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal where it was reversed and remanded. In addition, the Second District Court of Appeal certified the above noted question. (A 4-36)

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Appellants fulfilled their procedural duties under the statute and State Farm failed to respond within thirty days as required by the statute to preserve its subrogation rights. Therefore, the Hassens were free to settle and release the tortfeasor and pursue underinsured motorist benefits under their State Farm insurance policy. The 1992 amendments to § 627.727(6)(a) Fla. Stat., requiring insurance companies to respond within 30 days or waive their rights is purely remedial/procedural. The trial court's determination that the Hassens properly complied with the statute and State Farm failed to respond timely justifies the summary judgment entered Argument as to the constitutionality and on the issue. retroactive application of Section (6)(b) should have been unnecessary, but since it has been Certified by the District Court, it is addressed herein.

The legislature can pass laws which restrict access to courts if an overwhelming public need exists or a commensurate benefit is provided. The need to expedite claims and minimize litigation is an overwhelming public need. In addition, the insurance companies have been provided with a *quid pro quo* similar to that seen in the no-fault limitations on subrogation where the benefits and burden will be equally distributed to all carriers.

Until State Farm makes payment under its UM coverage, no

vested subrogation right exists; therefore, amendment to the statute is not affecting any vested right. The reasonable limitations imposed by the legislature serve important public purposes and should withstand any constitutional scrutiny.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT RULING HOLDING THE LEGISLATIVE CHANGES TO § 627.727(6)(a) FLA. STAT. (SUPP. 1992), TO BE PURELY REMEDIAL/PROCEDURAL THEREBY PROVIDING RETROACTIVE APPLICATION WHICH COUPLED WITH APPELLANTS' COMPLIANCE WITH THE PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS, ENTITLED APPELLANTS TO PURSUE UNINSURED MOTORIST BENEFITS.

Appellants complied with the notice requirements of § 627.727 Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992) prior to settling with the underinsured tortfeasor for his policy limits. Since State Farm did not respond within the statutory 30 days, Appellants were within their statutory rights to settle with the tortfeasor and claim entitlement to underinsured motorist coverage. State Farm clearly waived its right of subrogation by failing to respond within 30 days. This declaratory action arose after State Farm claimed prejudice resulting from the settlement with the tortfeasor.

The lack of timely response displayed by State Farm is often typical of the non-response by insurance companies in Florida to requests made pursuant to § 627.727(6) Fla. Stat. Prior to the statutory change, a non-response often times resulted in unnecessarily filing suit against the tortfeasor and the UM carrier. It was this failure to timely act on the part of the insurance companies and the unnecessary protracted litigation that prompted the Florida Legislature to act in its capacity as the creator of public policy to pass legislation to

expedite the resolution of claims involving underinsured tortfeasors and reduce the amount of overall litigation. <u>Blue</u> <u>Cross and Blue Shield v. Ryder Truck</u>, 498 So. 2d 423 (Fla. 1986) (if there is a problem with increased suits, the appropriate forum for the remedy is the legislature). The Legislative response to this public need was Chapter 92-318, Laws of Florida which amended § 627.727 Fla. Stat., effective October 1, 1992.

Before October 1, 1992, § 627.727(6) Fla. Stat. required compliance with the following procedures prior to settling with a tortfeasor and pursuing uninsured motorist benefits:

1. Upon receiving a settlement offer from the tortfeasor's insurer, the insured must notify the UM carrier and request in writing permission to approve the settle with the liability insurer. By approving the settlement, the UM carrier would thereby waive its subrogation rights against the tortfeasor.

2. If the UM carrier did not respond to the request within thirty days or denied permission to settle, the insured's only remedy was to file suit against the tortfeasor and the uninsured motorist carrier.

Because the statute contained no enforcement provisions, it was often in the UM carriers' best interest to simply not respond within the statutory thirty day period or to arbitrarily withhold permission to settle. Ultimately, such

action could coerce financially destitute claimants into dropping any claim for UM benefits and effectively settling their case for less than full value. Although there is no recorded legislative history, the 1992 amendment effectively created a remedy to reduce unnecessary litigation involving the tortfeasor and the liability insurer, and to prevent unnecessary delay caused by the 30 day approval period.

Although the injured person must still request UM permission to settle with the liability insurer, the 1992 amendment to Section (6) created a remedy in those cases where the UM carrier fails to respond within the 30 day period. Now, under Section 6(a) the insured may consummate a settle with the liability insurer and assume that the UM carrier desires to waive its subrogation claim. On the other hand, under Section (6) (b), where the UM carrier determines that the tortfeasor is not judgment proof, it must act to preserve its subrogation right by responding to the claimant's request and tendering to the insured an amount equal to the proposed settlement. The 1992 amendment to Section (6) merely creates a procedural enforcement mechanism that requires the UM carrier to make a decision concerning the tortfeasor's solvency. Certainly, both before and after the 1992 amendment, the UM carrier could always approve the settlement and waive subrogation rights.

The 1992 amendment confers the insured no additional rights, but only operates to create a procedure which

encourages settlements and avoids unnecessary litigation, particularly in those cases where it has already been determined that the tortfeasor's exposure is likely to exceed his or her policy limits. In addition, the procedure for retaining subrogation rights was changed. Reducing litigation and encouraging settlements is an important legislative concern especially in cases involving injury claims arising from automobile accidents. <u>Williams v. Gateway</u>, 331 So. 2d 301 (Fla. 1976).

The 1992 amendment represents a reasonable limitation and does not effectively operate to deprive UM carriers access to the courts. It should be emphasized that Section (6)(a) merely clarifies the procedure for requesting approval from the UM carrier prior to settlement with the underinsured tortfeasor while Section (6)(b) creates а procedure to preserve subrogation rights after a request has been made under Section (6)(a). The trial court determination that the Appellants complied with all notice requirements and State Farm failed to respond within the thirty day time-frame, makes any constitutional review of Section 6(b) wholly unnecessary for the resolution of this appeal. State Farm never tendered to the appellants money equal to the proposed settlement reached with the liability insurer. State Farm will not lose money in the event the jury returns a verdict less than the tortfeasors liability limits. The trial court found that the 30 day time

limitation set forth in Section (6)(a) is purely procedural/remedial and applied the statute retroactively. There is no factual basis in the instant case which would require this Court to pass on the constitutionality of Section (6)(b).

legislature may constitutionally impose reasonable The limitation periods within which to assert rights. Carter v, Sparkman, 335 So. 2d 802, 805 (Fla. 1976) (fixing of time limits within which to make claims is a reasonable and acceptable The requirement that insurance restriction on due process). companies respond within thirty days а reasonable is limitations period which does not interfere with the due process rights of the insurance companies. The statutory Section contained in (6)(a) clearly changes are procedural/remedial as they merely require the UM carrier to decide whether it is feasible to retain subrogation right against the tortfeasor and to affirmatively communicate its position to the injured party with the statutory 30 day period. Before the 1992 amendment, if an injured party settled it's claim with the liability insurer, the UM carrier could refuse to honor any UM claim if it could be shown that such a Argiro v. Progressive settlement prejudiced it's rights. American, 510 So. 2d 635 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). Effectively, the 1992 amendment prevents the UM carrier from later claiming prejudice if it failed to take affirmative act within the 30

day period. The subject statutory provision is identical to the statutory provisions contained in § 768.76 Fla. Stat. (1993) requiring health insurance carriers to assert whether they intend to pursue their subrogation rights within thirty (30) days after notice by the insured.

There are two general rules that apply to retroactive application of statutes, first they, cannot be applied retroactively in the absence of a clear legislative intent, and second, they cannot be applied retroactively if they impair vested rights. These principals are rules of general application and do not apply when the statute is solely remedial or procedural. <u>Walker & LaBerge, Inc. v. Halligan</u>, 344 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1977).

The historical notes to Chapter 92-318 Laws of Florida, specifically provide retroactive application to Section 10 which was added at the time of the amendment to Section (6). However, the absence a statutory provision providing for retroactive application cannot be used to show the Legislature's intent not to retroactively apply the amendments to Section (6)(a). Section 10 did not exist prior to October 1992. For this reason, the legislature needed to specifically state that Section 10 was to be applied retroactively. Since Section (6)(a) already existed and the changes were merely procedural/remedial in nature, no separate statement as to their retroactivity was or is necessary.

Even without a legislative mandate, procedural rights granted by statute are applied retroactively because no vested Walker & LaBerge at rights exist in any mode of procedure. Further, State Farm does not possess a vested right to 243. subrogation until payment is made. Allstate v. Metro Dade, 436 So. 2d 976 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (UM carrier could not file suit for subrogation until it paid the claim) and Quinones v. Florida Farm Bureau, 366 So. 2d 854 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) cert. denied at 376 So. 2d 71 (1979) (Insured brought suit for UM coverage and UM carrier filed third party complaint for subrogation, court dismissed third party action as the UM carrier had no vested right to subrogation until it made payment). Although the court in Attorney Title v. Punta Gorda, 547 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), looked with disfavor on the holding in <u>Quinones</u>, it should be noted that <u>Attorney Title</u> involves title insurance not uninsured motorist insurance and the relationships between the insured and the insurer are very different.

Without a vested right to subrogate, State Farm cannot protest that a substantive right is being taken away by the amendment to Section (6)(a). <u>Village of El Portal v. City of</u> <u>Miami</u>, 362 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 1978)(a change in the Uniform Contribution Amount Tortfeasor's Act was to be applied retroactively to cases that were not yet to judgment because the substantive rights of the joint tortfeasor's did not vest

until judgment was entered). State Farm has not paid out any money, therefore, no deprivation exists and no due process violation has occurred.

Remedial statutes are exceptions to the rule that statutes cannot be applied retroactively. Village of El Portal v. City of Miami, 362 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 1978). Remedial statutes have been defined as statutes relating to remedies or modes of procedure that do not confer any new rights but merely change a remedy. City of Lakeland v. Cantinella, 129 So. 2d 133 (Fla. 1961); St. John's Village I, Ltd. v. Department of State, Division of Corporations, 497 So. 2d 990 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). A remedy is merely the means employed in enforcing a right or in redressing an injury. Grammer v. Roman, 174 So. 2d 443 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965). The statutory amendment to Section 6(a) did not create any new obligations with respect to State Farm's tort liability, rather it merely changed the procedure employed to enforce an existing right. Appellants had the right to make a claim for their damages in excess of the tortfeasor's liability limits. The statute changed the procedure to require the insured to notify the insurer by certified mail and wait thirty days for a response prior to proceeding with a settlement and release of the underinsured motorist. Prior to the rewording of Section 6(a), an insurer was given thirty (30) days within which to investigate their subrogation claim and make a decision to waive or retain the subrogation rights. The

wording of Section 6(a) was altered to change the procedure if the insurer did not respond within the statutory thirty days. The change merely provides the insured with an option to settle and release the tortfeasor without prejudice in those instances where the UM carrier fails to respond or is dilatory in conducting their investigation.

Since the changes to this section were strictly remedial/ procedural, they do not fall within the constitutional prohibition against retroactive legislation. These changes only affected the remedies available in a cause of action which already existed. Therefore, these changes were applicable upon passage and apply to all cases pending at the time of passage. <u>Village of El Portal</u> at 278 and <u>City of Orlando v. Desjardins</u>, 493 So. 2d 1027 (Fla. 1986).

Appellants fulfilled their procedural duties under the statute and State Farm failed to reply within the thirty day Therefore, when time limit as required by the statute. proceeded to settle with and release the Appellants underinsured motorist as permitted by § 627.727(6)(a) Fla. Stat., the Hassens did not breach the uninsured motorist coverage contract by waiving State Farm's subrogation rights. The Hassens complied with the provisions of § 627.727(6)(a) and were able to proceed without prejudice with their claim for uninsured motorist benefits under the State Farm insurance contract.

THE DISTRICT COURT EXCEEDED ITS JURISDICTION IN RULING ON THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATION OF LEGISLATIVE CHANGES TO § 627.727(6) FLA. STAT. (SUPP. 1992) AND ERRED IN HOLDING THE AMENDMENT TO BE UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Enforceability and compliance with the thirty day response period was the only issue addressed by the trial court. Since the issue of prospective constitutionality was not an issue before the Circuit Court nor was it presented to or ruled on by the Circuit Court, the District Court of Appeal could not consider the matter for the first time on appeal. Gleason v. Dade County, 174 So. 2d 466 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965) and Scenic Hills Utility v. City of Pensacola, 156 So. 2d 874 (Fla. 1st DCA It must appear from the record that the issue was 1963). raised and argued in the trial court before it can be considered by the appellate court. Ballen v. Plaza Del Prado, 319 So. 2d 90 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975) and Henry v. Lemac Builders, 245 So. 2d 115 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971). However, should this matter be considered by this Honorable Court, appropriate argument has been included.

The purpose of uninsured motorist coverage is clearly illustrated by the definition found in State Farm's policy as well as Florida Statute § 627.727, as follows:

"An underinsured motor vehicle means; a land motor vehicle, the ownership, maintenance or use of which is insured, self-insured or bonded for bodily injury liability at the time of the accident, but the limits of liability of the insurance, self-insurance or bond are less than the damages for bodily injury sustained by the insured."

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