### ON APPEAL TO THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORUD A24 1995 APPEAL NUMBER 85,300

# DIANE S. HASSEN and THOMAS S. HASSEN,

Petitioners/Appellants,

-vs.-

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Respondent/Appellee.

Appealed from the Second District Court of Appeal No.: 94-01241

FILE

SID J. W

Deputy Clerk

#### **RESPONDENT/APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF**

H. Shelton Philips, Esquire KALEEL & KALEEL, P.A. Post Office Box 15697 St. Petersburg, FL 33733-5697 (813) 321-0744 SPN# 00042459 Fl Bar #062959 Attorney for Respondent/Appellee

#

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

(6)(b) If an underinsured motorist insurer chooses to preserve its subrogation rights by refusing permission to settle, the underinsured motorist insurer must, within 30 days after receipt of the notice of the proposed settlement, pay to the injured party the amount of the written offer from the underinsured motorist's liability insurer. Thereafter, upon final resolution of the underinsured motorist claim, the underinsured motorist insurer is entitled to seek subrogation against the underinsured motorist and the liability insurer for the amounts paid to the injured party.

(6)(c) The underinsured motorist insurer is

entitled to a credit against total damages in the amount of the limits of the underinsured motorist's liability policy in all cases to which this subsection applies, even if the settlement with the underinsured motorist under paragraph (a) or the payment by the underinsured motorist insurer under paragraph (b) is for less than the underinsured motorist's full liability policy limits. The term "total damages" as used in this section means the full amount of damages determined to have been sustained by the injured party, regardless of the amount of underinsured motorist coverage. Nothing in this subsection, including any payment or credit under this subsection, reduces or affects the total amount of underinsured motorist coverage available to the injured party.

The legislature has therefore by legislative fiat divested State Farm of its contractual right to insist that the insureds protect State Farm's rights to subrogation even in the advance of payment. State Farm's rights of subrogation are both contractual and equitable in origin and predated the legislature's enactment of F.S. § 627.727(6)(a)(b)(c) (Supp. 1992) and cannot therefore be retroactively taken away under the circumstances of the case *sub judice*.

Virtually no degree of contract impairment has been tolerated in this state. <u>Yamaha Parts Distributors Inc. v. Ehrman</u>, 316 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1975). Our Supreme Court in <u>Yamaha</u>, *supra*, stated as follows:

"Legislation is presumed to operate

prospectively unless there exists a showing on face of law that retroactive application is intended."

This Honorable Court in the case of Pomponio, et al. v. Claridge of

Pompano Condominium, Inc., 378 So.2d 774 (Fla. 1979) stated as follows:

"As applied retroactively, absent a lessor's express consent to its incorporation into terms of lease, statute providing for deposit of rent into registry of court during litigation involving obligations under a condominium lease, was invalid as an unconstitutional impairment of obligation of contract, inasmuch as such statute potentially allowed retention in court of at least some portion of deposit of rent during entire term of litigation."

The case *sub judice*. is not unlike the <u>Pomponio</u> case in that the insurance carrier is required to advance monies that it may not owe in order to retain a contract right it already had. State Farm, in the instant cause, if it chose to retain its subrogation rights, would be required to advance monies equivalent to the tortfeasor's offer whether or not those monies would ever be owed and would have to await determination at the trial on the liability and damages issues to try to get those monies back.

As pointed out by the Second District Court of Appeal in the instant cause, if State Farm chose to retain its subrogation rights it would be required to pay \$100,000.00 before the insured had ever established

entitlement based upon liability and proof of their damages. State Farm would suffer the loss of the time value of the monies paid even if it recovered all of the monies paid to the insured at the conclusion of the Appellants argue that the trial court's ruling was correct litigation. because State Farm never responded to their requests for settlement within the thirty-day statutory time period. Appellants overlook the fact that it would have made no difference in the result if State Farm had responded within thirty days unless it either paid the monies offered by the tortfeasor or waived its subrogation rights. Neither of the choices offered by the Appellants or the statute offers State Farm any viable method through which it can be restored to the benefit of its bargain previously made. The requirement that the insureds must request permission to settle with the liability insurer is an illusory benefit to State Farm, in that "heads-- it loses," "tails--it loses." State Farm either loses the right of subrogation or invites the opportunity to lose the funds that it advances in matching the tortfeasor's offer of settlement.

While it is true all retroactive provisions of legislative acts are not necessarily invalid, in order to withstand constitutional analysis such statutes must be truly remedial and not substantive. <u>Village of El Portal v.</u>

City of Miami Shores, 362 So.2d 275 (Fla. 1978).

This Honorable Court in the case of <u>Village of El Portal</u>, *supra*, citing from its opinion in <u>McCord v. Smith</u>, 43 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1950) stated as follows:

". . . that retrospective statutes are only constitutionally defective:

. . . in those cases wherein vested rights are adversely affected or destroyed or when a new obligation or duty is created or imposed, or an additional disability is established, in connection with transactions or considerations previously had or expiated."

The Supreme Court of Florida in the case of Seddon v. Harpster, 403

So.2d 409 (Fla. 1981) stated as follows:

#### "There is a presumption against retroactive application of a statute in absence of an express manifestation of legislative intent to the contrary."

State Farm respectfully submits that F.S. § 627.727(6) (Supp. 1992) substantially alters the purpose of uninsured motorist coverage under the 1989 statutes and abrogates State Farm's vested right to have its liability under its contract determined before it is required to make payment, either in whole or in part.

The case *sub judice* is strikingly similar to the case of <u>Allstate</u> <u>Insurance Company v. Garrett</u>, 550 So.2d 22 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) wherein

#### the court stated as follows:

"Statute providing that physical injury protection insurance benefits could not be withdrawn without report from physician licensed under same section of statute as physician providing treatment, unconstitutionally impaired obligation of contract embodied in insurance policy issued prior to effective date of statute."

The Second District found in <u>Allstate</u>, *supra*, that any application of the amendment to § 627.736(7)(a) to Allstate's contract of insurance entered into before the amendment became effective constitutes a violation of Article I, § 10 of the Florida Constitution.

This Honorable Court in the case of <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973) seemingly addressed a similar problem when it stated as follows:

"Where a right of access to courts for redress for a particular injury has been provided by statutory law predating the adoption of Declaration of Rights of Constitution of Florida, or where such right has become a part of the common law of state, legislature is without power to abolish such a right without providing a reasonable alternative to protect rights of people of state to redress for injuries, unless legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for abolishment of such rights, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown." (Emphasis added) Assuming arguendo that Fla. Stat. § 627.727(6), as amended 1992, is constitutional when applied prospectively, such an argument cannot be made for retroactive application of the statute.

The court in the case of <u>St. John's Village I, LTD. v. Department of</u> <u>State, Division of Corporations</u>, 497 So.2d 990, (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), stated as follows:

> "A 'remedial statute' is one which confers or changes a 'remedy'; a 'remedy' is the means employed in enforcing a right or in redressing an injury.'

> 'Statute, requiring that limited partnership, prior to reinstatement, pay fine of \$500 for each year or part of year during which limited partnership transacted business without authority, created new obligations and imposed new penalties, was not remedial in nature, and was substantive in nature, not procedural, and, thus, could only be applied prospectively, in absence of explicit legislative expression to the contrary."

This Honorable Court more recently in the case of <u>State Farm</u> <u>Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. Laforet</u>, 20 F.L.W. S173 (Fla. 1995), in addressing the legislature's enactment of § 627.727(10) (Supp. 1992), stated as follows:

> "The general rule is that a substantive statute will not operate retrospectively absent clear legislative intent to the contrary but that a procedural or remedial statute is to operate retrospectively.'



'Even when the Legislature does expressly state that a statute is to have retroactive application, this Court has refused to apply a statute retroactively if the statute impairs vested rights, creates new obligations, or imposes new penalties.'

'When we apply these standards to the instant case, we find that section 627.727(10) cannot be applied retroactively because it is, in substance, a penalty. Without question, the Legislature has expressively stated that section 627.727(10) is remedial and is to be applied retroactively.'

'Just because the Legislature labels something as being remedial, however, does not make it so."

#### **DUE PROCESS/ACCESS TO THE COURTS**

State Farm, under the 1989 version of F.S. § 627.727(6), had a vested right, both by virtue of the statute and its contract of insurance with the insured, to have its liability to pay damages conclusively resolved by a lawsuit. It had an absolute right not to be required to pay out monies it may not owe based upon private negotiations between the insured and the third-party tortfeasor, who are now allowed to decide what will be paid in advance, notwithstanding whether there is legal liability and no prior determination as to the amount of the damages. State Farm has been deprived of its rights as they existed by contract and by statute prior to the enactment of F.S. § 627.727(6) (Supp. 1992). The ability of the insureds and the third-party liability insurance carrier to determine the immediate liability of State Farm for an award of damages, including non-economic damages, without an opportunity for State Farm to assert its legal defenses, is a clear violation of State Farm's due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, §9 of the Florida Constitution. State Farm's right of access to the courts as protected by Article I, § 21 of the Florida Constitution is likewise violated by the requirement of the payment of a sum of money as a condition precedent to an exercise of its constitutional right of access to the courts.

This Honorable Court in the case of <u>Peoples Bank of Indian River</u> <u>County v. State, Dept. of Banking and Finance</u>, 395 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1981) stated as follows:

> "Legislature may determine by what process and procedure legal rights may be asserted and determine provided that procedure adopted affords reasonable notice and fair opportunity to be heard

#### before rights are decided."

State Farm respectfully submits that the legislature in its amendment to F.S. § 627.727(6) (Supp. 1992) did not provide State Farm with a fair opportunity to be heard before rights were decided. State Farm's contractual rights predating the statute as supplemented were taken away and supplanted by a requirement that it pay money which it may never get back in order to preserve a long recognized right of subrogation. The opportunity to attempt to recover its payment through a subrogation action at some unspecified time after final resolution of the insured's UM claim does not ameliorate the due process violations since, as stated in <u>Fuentes v. Shevin</u>, 407 U.S. 67, 84-85, 92 S. Ct. 1983, 1996, 32 Lawyer's Edition 2d 556 (1972) "[i]t is now well settled that a temporary, non-final deprivation is nonetheless a deprivation in terms of the Fourteenth Amendment."

This Honorable Court in the case of <u>Psychiatric Associates v. Siegel</u>, 610 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1992) stated as follows:

"Right to go to court to resolve disputes is fundamental.'

'Legislature may abrogate or restrict access to courts if it provides reasonable alternative remedy or commensurate benefit or showing of overpowering public necessity for abolishment of right and finds that there is no alternative method of meeting public necessity."

The legislature in the case *sub judice* has not demonstrated any overpowering public necessity for imposing such a financial restriction with a concomitant showing that no alternative method of addressing

such public necessity exists.

The Academy likens State Farm's subrogation right in the instant cause to the inchoate right of dower and cites the case of <u>Ryan v. Ryan</u>, 277 So.2d 266 (Fla. 1973), which case is wide of the mark in that this Honorable Court points out that an inchoate right of dower is statutory and not a matter of contract as is present in the instant cause. The Academy assails the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in part upon the basis that the right of the insurer, i.e., State Farm, to subrogation is nothing more than a mere expectancy which has not yet vested. The Academy further argues that the mere expectancy which has not yet vested is not a property right subject to constitutional protection. This argument by the Academy is interesting in that they rely in part upon the case of <u>Allstate Insurance Co. v. Metropolitan Dade</u>, 436 So. 2d 976 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) which in part states as follows:

". . . subrogation contracts frequently grant the subrogee the means of insuring that the subrogor will protect the subrogee's rights, even in advance of payment. Not surprisingly, therefore, courts have traditionally held that in contractual subrogation actions, the statute of limitations runs from the date of the injury to the original 'rightsholder' and not from the date of payment by the subrogee. These traditional rules are stated in Don Reid Ford, Inc. v. Feldman, 421 So.2d 184 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982)."

While the Appellants and the Academy argue there is no vested right of subrogation in State Farm, yet if a lawsuit were not filed by or on behalf of State Farm within four years from the date of the accident in question, the statute of limitations would have run out and State Farm would have had no claim whatsoever. Under the argument advanced by the Appellants and the Academy, State Farm has no rights which are ripe for constitutional protection notwithstanding the fact those rights are lost by the expiration of the statute of limitations which starts running from the date of the accident.

The Second District Court of Appeal in the case of <u>Attorney's Title</u> <u>Insurance Fund, Inc. v. Punta Gorda Isles, Inc.</u>, 547 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) stated as follows:

> "Subrogation claims are appropriate controversies for expedited presentation which can be pursued as contingent claims prior to payment. West's F.S.A. RCP Rule 1.180."

The Second District Court obviously recognized the fact that the statute of limitations does indeed expire in the state of Florida four years from the date of the accident and therefore expedited presentation is indeed appropriate lest the right be lost.

Appellants and the Academy advance the argument that since the constitutional issues of due process and access to the courts were not argued in the trial court, that Appellee cannot be heard to raise these constitutional claims at this juncture. This Honorable Court in the case of <u>Canter v. Davis</u>, 489 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1986) stated as follows:

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